IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 

NO. 2009-CA-00243 

WENDY RYALS AND RONALD PERRY APPELLANTS 

VS. 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PIKE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On the 12th day of June, 2008, the Pike County Board of Supervisors passed an 

ordinance styled "An Ordinance of the Pike County Board of Supervisors Prohibiting the 

Possession and Consumption of Alcohol of Any Type on Certain Portions of the Bogue 

Chitto River, and Topisaw Creek, in Pike County, Mississippi." The act became effective 

immediately upon passage. 

Paragraph 5 of the ordinance states: 

CONSUMPTION AND/OR POSSESSION OF ALCOHOLIC

9. Possession or Transportation of Alcoholic Beverages, Light Wine, or Beer 67-9-1 

The appeal in this case concerns Chapters 1 and 3 of Title 67, Alcoholic Beverages. 

It is those two titles that concerns themselves with the permitting, sale, possession, and 

consumption of alcoholic beverages in Mississippi. 

The control of alcohol in Mississippi is done by a permitting process. §67-1-1 et seq., 

known as the "Local Option Alcoholic Beverage Control Law" of the State of Mississippi, 

is the permitting Title and Chapter for alcohol beverages containing more than five percent 
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(5%) alcohol by weight. 

The sale of light wine, beer and other alcoholic beverages of less than five percent 

(5%), is controlled by a permitting process set forth in Title 67, Chapter 3 et seq. 

§67-1-3 (wines and spirits) reannounces the policy of the State of Mississippi 

in favor of prohibition of the manufacture, sale, distribution, possession and transportation 

of intoxicating liquor. §67-1-3 goes on to say that 

The purpose and intent of this chapter is to vigorously enforce the prohibition 
laws throughout the state, except in those counties and municipalities voting 
themselves out from under the prohibition law in accordance with the 
provisions of this chapter, and, in those counties and municipalities, to require 
strict regulation and supervision of the manufacture, sale, distribution, 
possession and transportation of intoxicating liquor under the system of the 
state licensing of manufactures, wholesalers and retailers, which licenses shall 
be subject to revocation for violations of this chapter. [Emphasis added] 

§67 -1-3 then goes on to state that all laws in conflict with this chapter are repealed to the 

extend that they are in conflict, however, where not in conflict, such other laws remain in full 

force and effect. 

For light wines and beer, the statement of purpose is found in §67-3-l: 

The purpose of this chapter is to legalize the manufacture and sale within this 
state of light wines and beer of an alcoholic content of not more than five 
percent (5%) by weight, and to regulate the business of manufacturing and of 
selling such liquors so as to prevent the illicit manufacture, sale, and 
consumption of liquors having an alcoholic content of more than five percent 
(5%) by weight, the manufacture and sale of which it is not the purpose ofthis 
chapter to legalize. [Emphasis added] 

§67-3-3 gives the definitions of "commissioner", "person", "manufacture", 

"retailer", and "beer". 
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§67-3-5 sets forth what shall be lawful concerning beer and wines. 

It shall be lawful, subject to the provisions set forth in this chapter, in this state 
to transport, store, sell, distribute, possess, receive, andlor manufacture wine 
and beer of an alcoholic content of not more than five percent (5%) by weight, 
and it is hereby declared that it is the legislative intent that this chapter 
privileges the lawful sale and manufacture, within this state, of such light 
wines and beer. In determining if a wine product is "light wine," or contains 
and alcoholic content of more than five percent (5) by weight, or is not an 
"alcoholic beverage" as defined in the Local Option Alcoholic Beverage 
Control Law, Chapter I of Title 67, Mississippi Code of 1972, the alcoholic 
content of such wine product shall be subject to the same permitted tolerance 
as it allowed by the labeling requirements for light wine provided for in 
Section 27-71-509. 

§67-3-7 and §67-3-9 provide for the local option by elections by counties and 

municipalities respectively. 

§67-3-13 reiterates that if a county has not elected to make light wines and 

beer legal, then the possession thereofis illegal, and sets forth the penalty. 

Chapter 67-3-15 begins a series of code sections which sets forth the permit 

and license scheme to control the distribution of light wines and beer in the State of 

Mississippi. 

, 
That the permitting system is used to control the distribution and consumption 

oflight wines and beer in Mississippi is clearly shown by §67-3-53. 

In addition to any act declared to be unlawful by this chapter, or by Sections 
27-71-301 through 27-71-347, and Sections 67-3-17, 67-3-27, 67-3-29 and 67-
3-57, it shall be un!awfl.!! for the holder ofa pennit authorizing the sale of beer 
or light wine at retail or for the employee ofthe holder of such a permit: ( a) To 
sell or give to be consumed in or upon any licensed premises any beer or light 
wine between the hours of midnight and seven o'clock the following morning 
or during any time the licensed premises may be required to be closed by 
municipal ordinance or order of the board of supervisors; provided, however, 

14 



in areas where the sale of alcoholic beverages is legal under the provisions of 
the Local Option Alcoholic Beverage Control Law and the hours for selling 
such alcoholic beverages have been extended beyond midnight for on-premises 
permittees under Section 67-1-37, the hours for selling beer or light wines are 
likewise extended in areas where the sale of beer and light wines is legal in 
accordance with the provisions of this chapter. (b) To sell, give or furnish any 
beer or light wine to any person visibly or noticeably intoxicated, or to any 
insane person, or to any habitual drunkard, or to any person under the age of 
twenty-one (21) years. (c) To permit in the premises any lewd, immoral or 
improper entertainment, conduct or practices. (d) To permit loud, boisterous 
or disorderly conduct of any kind upon the premises or to permit the use of 
loud musical instruments if either or any ofthe same may disturb the peace and 
quietude of the community wherein such business is located. (e) To permit 
persons of ill repute, known criminals, prostitutes or minors to frequent the 
licensed premises, except minors accompanied by parents or guardians, or 
under proper supervision. (f) To permit or suffer illegal gambling or the 
operation of illegal games of chance upon the licensed premises. (g) To 
receive, possess or sell on the licensed premises any beverage of any kind or 
character containing more than five percent (5%) of alcohol by weight unless 
the licensee also possesses an on-premises permit under the Local Option 
Alcoholic Beverage Control Law. 

(C) PIKE COUNTY ORDINANCE 

Pike County has adopted an Ordinance which prohibits the consumption of 

all light wines and beer, and wines and spirits of an alcoholic content of greater than five 

percent (5%), by the use of said §67-3-65. 

§67-3-65. Authority of Local Governments 

Municipalities may enforce such proper rules and regulations for fixing 
zones and territories, prescribing hours of opening and of closing, and for such 
other measures as will promote public health, morals, and safety, as they may 
by ordinance provide. The board of supervisors of any county may make such 
rules and regulations as to territory outside of municipalities as are herein 
provided for municipalities. 
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Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit the governing body of any 
municipality from designating what territory surrounding churches and schools 
in said municipalities, and the board of supervisors of any county from 
designating what territory surrounding churches an schools outside of any 
municipality, in which light wines and beer shall not be sold or consumed. 

First, this code section, §67-3-65, is only found in Chapter 3 of Title 67. 

Chapter 3 concerns the sale oflight wine and beer, of an alcoholic content of not more 

than five percent (5%) by weight. §67-3-1. There is no corresponding section for the Local 

Option Alcoholic Beverage Control Law of §67 -1-1 et seq., which concerns wines and spirits 

of an alcoholic content that is greater than five percent (5%). 

All of the Court decisions concerning §67-3-65 have taken into consideration the 

permitting scheme used by Mississippi to control the distribution of alcoholic beverages. 

Miller v. Board o/Supervisors o/Forrest County (Miss. 1957) 230 Miss. 849,94 So.2d 604, 

allowed this code section to be used to prohibit the sale of beer and light wines within a 

specified zone by order reasonably based on facts and conditions warranting it. In Herbert 

v. Board o/Supervisors o/Carol County (Miss. 1961) 241 Miss. 223, 130 So.2d 250, the 

Court held that the mere fact that sale of intoxicating liquor is permitted in some zones or 

districts while it is not permitted in others does not of itself constitute an unconstitutional 

discrimination against persons residing or properly located in the latter. 

Again, the operative word was sale. In Alexander v. Graves (Miss. 1937) 178 Miss. 

583, 173 So.2d 417, the Court stated that the Court must consider statute legalizing sale of 

wine and beer as an entirety and effect must be given to each part of statute, so as to fulfill 

intent oflegislature. 
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In a case that would not have been decided today, (since the legal age for light wines 

and beer have been elevated to 21 years of age), there was a case decided in 1997 which 

again spoke to the on premises sale and consumption. In Collins v. City of Hazlehurst 

(Miss.l997) 709 So.2d 408, certiorari denied, 118 Supreme Court 2060,141 L. Ed.2d 138, 

the Mississippi Supreme Court held that a city ordinance that prohibited the holder of a 

permit from allowing persons under 21 years of age on premises where beer was sold or 

consumed was validly enacted to promote welfare, morals and safety of citizeniory under age 

of 21 and did not conflict with statute allowing minors to enter premises for retail sales of 

beer or light wines, when accompanied by parents or guardians or other proper supervision; 

ordinance was needed to prevent youths from entering premises where patrons were scanned 

for weapons prior to entering. 

Again, our Court speaks to the sale and consumption on premises. 

In Alexander v. Graves, (Miss. 1937), 178 Miss. 583, 173 So. 417, our Court held 

held that the powers conferred upon municipalities and boards of supervisors of territory 

lying outside municipalities with regard to regulating sale of wine and beer must be based 

upon reasonable conditions, that is, some basis of fact ascertained by board of supervisors 

which would have a material bearing on whether sale should be by a resident of the State for 

a period of two years. 

In Herbert v. Board of Supervisors of Carol County, supra, our Court stated that 

where the requisite power exist, local goverrnnental authorities may prohibit the sale of 
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intoxicating liquors in certain areas or at certain times, but the exercise of the power must be 

based upon reasonable conditions. The Court had held that the order of the board of 

supervisors zoning out the sale of beer and wine in a strip adjoining counties was not invalid 

as unreasonable and discriminatory and as denying due process where the sale of beer and 

wine in the area constituted a difficult law enforcement problem. 

The annotations under §67 -3-65 that are decisions by our Court, have universily 

considered the sale oflight wines and beer, and where consumption was considered, it was 

the sale and consumption of the light beer and wines on the premises where sold. None of 

the decisions that are annotated under that code section, with the exception of some attorney 

general opinions, concern the consumption of beer that is being consumed some place other 

than where it was purchased. 

(D) WINES AND SPIRITS 

The appellant has pointed out in another section: 

Even though "Attorney General opinions are not binding, they are certainly 
useful in providing guidance to this Court." In re Assessment of Ad Valorem 
Taxes on Leasehold Interest Held by Reed Mfg., Inc. Ex rei. Itawamba County 
Bd. 0fSup'rs, 854 So.2d 1066, 1071 (Miss. 2003) (citing City of Durant v. 
Laws Constr. Co., 721 So.2d 598, 604 (Miss. 1998). 

Having pointed that out, the Attorney Generals opinion number 98-0278, Rutledge, 

June 5, 1998, is worth noting: 

The regulation of sales of alcoholic beverages containing 4% or more of 
alcohol, or intoxicating liquor, is an area wholly within the authority of the 
state tax commission, and there is no authority for a municipality to adopt an 
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ordinance which would further regulate the sale of intoxicating liquors by 
requiring commercial establishments holding a valid permit issued by the State 
Tax Commission to sell such beverages to achieve a mandatory ratio of food 
sales to alcoholic beverage sales; with respect to an ordinance setting a food 
sales to beer sales ratio, the thorough regulatory scheme implemented by the 
state light wines and beer laws codified by §67-3-1, et seq., clearly proclaims 
that, within the exception of §67-3-65, the state, via the State Tax 
Commission, also sets the only standard regarding issues of the manufacture, 
sale, distribution, possession, and transportation of light wines and beer, and 
the authority and municipality to act in this field is limited to adopting an 
enforcing reasonable rules and regulations in accordance with the authority set 
forth in §67-3-65. 

Since there is no comparable section in the wines and spirits section, §63-1-1 et seq., 

to §67-3-65 in the Light Wines and Beer code section, the ordinance adopted by the County 

in which the consumption of wines and spirits of an alcoholic content greater than 4% are 

prohibited is void because of the conflict in state law and the ordinance. 

Watkins v. Navarrette (Miss. 1969) 227 So.2d 853 held that in any conflict between 

an ordinance and a state statute, the latter (state statute) must prevail. 

§67 -1-7 is clear as to the applicability of Title 67 Chapter 1. 

Except as otherwise provided in Section 67-9-1 for the transportation and 
possession of limited amounts of alcoholic beverages for the use of an alcohol 
processing permittee, and subject to all of the provisions and restrictions 
contained in this chapter, the manufacture, sale, distribution, possession and 
transportation of alcoholic beverages shall be lawful, subject to the restrictions 
hereafter imposed, in those counties and municipalities of this state which, at 
a local option election called and held for that purpose under the provisions of 
this chapter, a majority of the qualified electors voting in such election shall 
vote in favor thereof. 

The next code section, §67-1-9, Alcoholic beverages forbidden; exceptions; 
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penalties, states: 

(1) "It shall be unlawful for any person to manufacture, distill, brew, sell, 
possess, import into this state, export from the state, transport, distribute, 
warehouse, store, solicit, take order for, bottle, rectifY, blend, treat, mix or 
process any alcoholic beverage except as authorized in this chapter.. .. " 

It is quite clear from the quoted sections and from the entirety of Title 67, Chapter 1, 

and the code sections therein, that the State Tax Commission regulates wines and spirits and 

anything to do with wines and spirits. 

The possessions of wines and spirits being legal in Pike County, the County is without 

authority to pass any ordinance which is contrary to §67-1-1 et seq., which allows the lawful 

possession of wine and spirits. 

As code section 67-1-11 subparagraph (4) states: 

If, in such election, a majority of the qualified electors participating therein 
shall vote in favor of the proposition, this chapter shall become applicable and 
operative in such county and the manufacture, sale, distribution and possession 
of alcoholic beverages therein shall be lawful to the extend and in the manner 
permitted hereby. 

The County has attempted to enforce many statewide laws by banning wine, spirits, 

and light wines and beer on portions of the Bogue Chitto River and the Topisaw Creek. 

Over a five year period Lane Ball, of Wildlife and Fisheries, had a chart showing 

1,381 arrests that had been made on the Bogue Chitto River and Topisaw Creek. As that 

chart showed, there are laws on the books of the State of Mississippi that authorizes persons 

to be arrested for the illegal conduct shown on the chart. 
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Enforcement oflaws on the Bogue Chitto River and the Topisaw Creek would prevent 

the conduct complained up by the Pike County Board of Supervisors, and which said 

supervisors are attempting to control by an unlawful ordinance, rather than the enforcement 

of laws that are on the books. 

Interestingly, of the 1,381 arrests cited by Lane Ball in a five year period, only 21 had 

to do with public intoxication. There were another 143 having to do with possession of beer 

by a minor (not intoxication). Lane Ball noted one minor that was only 13 years of age, but 

only one. The possession of beer by a minor did not indicate that the minor was drunk. 

Public drunkenness by the minor, would indicate that, and would fall within the 21 public 

drunk arrest over a five year period. 

The law enforcement officers in their testimony wanted to blame everything that 

occurred on the Bogue Chitto River and the Topisaw Creek on overuse of alcoholic 

beverages. But the stark fact is that there were only 21 public intoxication citations in that 

five year period. 

Law enforcement attempted to use a procedure which did not make sense to this 

writer. Lane Ball, testified about trying to sneak up on tubers and canoers who had 

committed some crime or were committing some crime. It seems that the solution would be 

for these law enforcement officials to get into the water and prevent many of these 

misdemeanors about which they complained. A person in a canoe or a tube that has rented 

that tube or canoe is going to be going down stream. The nature of the use and rental of 
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tubes and canoes is that the vendor puts a person in at one place with the tube or canoe and 

takes them out down stream at another place. The simple solution is for law enforcement to 

be in the river or on the side ofthe banks and to observe the tubers and canoers as they come 

by. 

A second solution that perhaps is needed on the river, and would be a lawful 

ordinance, is to require tubers and canoers to carry identification on their person in the event 

of injury and in the event of the commission of some misdemeanor. This writer does not 

understand why law enforcement perceives it their duty to make arrest after a misdemeanor 

has occurred, rather than to make a real effort to see that no misdemeanors occur and thus 

no arrest, or very few arrest are necessary. 

It is respectfully submitted that without law enforcement doing its job responsibility, 

properly, and efficiently, any action by the Board of Supervisors is arbitrary and capricious. 

Again, this writer must point out that the ban is on alcohol. There were only 21 arrests 

for public drunkenness over a five year period. 

POINT II. 

THE ORDINANCE PASSED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

IS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS 

(A) FACTS SUPPORTING ARGUMENT 

The Supervisors acted arbitrarily and capriciously in banning alcoholic beverages. 

In his findings offacts the learned trial judge had only one set of verifiable statistics 
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concerning the arrest that were made on the Bogue Chitto River and Topisaw Creek. The 

learned trialjudge makes reference to the Mississippi Department of Wildlife, Fisheries, and 

Parks compilation of records from the years 2000 through 2005 concerning arrests made on 

the Bogue Chitto River and Topisaw Creek. (Exhibit 8) Officer Lane Ball of that agency 

testified concerning the arrests during the years 2000 through 2005 on the Bogue Chitto 

River and Topisaw Creek. There were 1,381 arrests during that period of time. Of those 

1,381 arrests, only 21 were for public drunk. A review of Exhibit 8 of the chart containing 

the category of the arrest and the number of arrest is as follows: 

Littering (223) 

Possession of Marijuana (294) 

Possession of Controlled Substance (36) 

Possession of Glass On BC River (428) 

Possession of Beer by Minor (143) 

Public Profanity (53) 

Indecent Exposure (7) 

Failure to ObeylDisorderly Conduct (22) 

Trespassing (154) 

Public Drunk (21) 

Total 1,381 
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The learned judge in his findings of fact notes that Sheriff Mark Shephard and other 

law enforcement officers had made complaints concerning the behavior of persons floating 

or canoeing on the Bogue Chitto River and Topisaw Creek. There were no statistics given 

such as those by Lane Ball. However, Lane Ball testified that prior sheriffs did not want to 

go out to the water park, and that is why Wildlife and Fisheries was out there. The judge also 

notes that law enforcement complained of limited access to the river and transportation 

difficulties. The judge notes that people who float the river routinely failed to carry State 

issued identification. The learned trial judge also notes that since the effective date of the 

ban, violations only affected area of the Bogue Chitto River and Topisaw Creek have been 

greatly reduced. The judge then finally notes that the number of persons renting tubes in the 

effective area have been reduced anywhere from 65% to 90%. (Findings of fact by the trial 

judge are at R21-23.) 

The simple fact is that there were only 21 public drunk arrest out of 1,381 arrests

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