IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.:2009-CA-00243

WENDY RYALS and RONALD PERRY

APPELLANTS

VS.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PIKE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Rule 28(a)(1), Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides that governmental parties need not supply this certificate.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Mississippi Legislature has not preempted all regulations which touch on alcoholic beverages, so long as any regulations enacted do not conflict with state statute or the Mississippi Constitution. The Ordinance at issue herein is reasonable according to the facts disclosed before the Board of Supervisors, is supported by substantial evidence.

is not arbitrary or capricious, or beyond the power of the board to make, and does not violate any constitutional right of the complaining party. The Ordinance is a valid exercise of the legislative power of the Board of Supervisors, enacted to promote public health, morals and safety, with a substantial relationship between the police power invoked and the problem sought to be addressed. The Board of Supervisors of Pike County, Mississippi held a properly noticed public hearing on the proposed ordinance in question, and considered input from persons who support and oppose the ordinance. The Board of Supervisors received a great deal of evidence regarding conditions on the river and possible solutions to problems therein, including information from various law enforcement agencies, landowners of property along the affected areas of the Bogue Chitto River and Topisaw Creek, and local business owners who would be directly and indirectly affected by the Ordinance. After careful consideration of the input received, and mindful of the public safety issues presented by problems directly attributable to alcohol consumption on the river, the Board of Supervisors passed the Ordinance to address those public safety issues. The Board of Supervisors correctly used zoning and policing powers conferred upon them by the Mississippi Constitution, in concert with authority provided by Mississippi statute, specifically by § 19-3-40, Mississippi Code Annotated, the County Home Rule Statute, in conjunction with § 67-3-65, the Beer Statute, in enacting the Ordinance at issue herein.

ARGUMENT

I. THE MISSISSIPPI LEGISLATURE HAS NOT PREEMPTED THE REGULATION OF CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES SO LONG AS THE REGULATIONS ARE CONSISTENT WITH STATE STATUTE.

Preemption is the preliminary question in an examination of whether a Board of

Supervisors has statutory authority to make regulations regarding consumption of alcohol. The doctrine of preemption holds, generally, that where state legislation exists on a certain subject, the legislation shall take precedence over local ordinances which are inconsistent. 5 E. McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, §15.20. This Court has held that the Mississippi Legislature has not preempted all municipal regulations which touch on alcoholic beverages, as long as those regulations are consistent with state statute. *Maynard v. City of Tupelo*, 691 So. 2d 385 (Miss.1997).

The laws governing beverages containing alcohol fall into two categories. Alcoholic beverages which contain more than four percent alcohol by weight are governed by Section 67-1-1, et seq., of the Mississippi Code of 1972 (the "Liquor Statute"). Alcoholic beverages containing four percent alcohol by weight or less are governed by Section 67-3-1, et seq., of the Mississippi Code of 1972 (the "Beer Statute"). The Liquor Statute takes a prohibitory approach, prohibiting the "manufacture, sale, distribution, possession and transportation of intoxicating liquor" unless a license or permit is held pursuant to the Liquor Statute. The Beer Statute takes the positive approach of legalizing beer and light wine, except in places which have voted the sale of beer illegal. The Beer Statute further provides at Miss. Code Ann. § 67-3-65 that the Board of Supervisors may "fix zones and territories, enforce such proper rules and regulations, and for such other measures as will promote public health, morals and safety" regarding the possession and consumption of alcoholic beverages in Pike County, Mississisppi.

Under § 67-3-65, Municipalities and Boards of Supervisors have been permitted to enforce rules and regulations for fixing zones and territories for sale and consumption of certain alcoholic beverages in the following cases:

- establishments from allowing the consumption of alcoholic beverages on their premises between midnight and 7:00 a.m., upheld. *Maynard v. City of Tupelo*, 691 So. 2d 385 (Miss. 1997). The Court found that "the Legislature has not clearly expressed an intent that the consumption of alcoholic beverages, as opposed to the mere possession thereof, be permitted without limitation in wet areas. Absent such a clear expression of intent, the public policy considerations in favor of granting a municipality the right to prevent accidents and deaths related to drunken driving, alcohol related altercations, and similar societal ills are so strongly in favor of Tupelo that this Court will allow the ordinance to stand." *Maynard* at 388. In an examination of § 67-3-65, the Court noted that "the Legislature appears to understand the importance of granting local governments the power to regulate the impact of alcoholic beverages within their communities." Id.;
- (2) Ordinance of Board of Supervisors prohibiting the sale of alcoholic beverages in a limited area of the Petal and Harvey communities of Forrest County, upheld. *Miller v. Board of Supervisors of Forrest County*, 230 Miss. 849, 94 So.2d 604 (Miss. 1957). In this case, before passing the order, the Board was advised by the Sheriff that the order was necessary in the interests of adequate law enforcement. "The board found that the existence of U. S. Highway No. 11 in this heavily settled area, and the resulting problems of law enforcement, rendered it reasonable and proper to prohibit such sales, in order to furnish adequate police protection to this restricted area of the county, and in order to promote the public welfare, health, safety and morals." (emphasis added) *Miller* at 857.
 - (3) Order entered by the Board of Supervisors of Clay County prescribing

certain hours within week days, and all of Sundays, outside of municipalities, during which beer and wine should not be sold; the circuit court held the order of the board void and the board of supervisors appealed. The Court reversed and judgment was entered for appellant board. *Board of Supervisors of Clay County v. McCormick*, 207 Miss. 216, 42 So.2d 177 (Miss. 1949). The Court held that when a Board of Supervisors enacts an ordinance of the kind at issue, the proper question is whether the order is reasonable according to the facts disclosed before the board, that is, whether or not its decision is supported by substantial evidence, or is arbitrary or capricious, or beyond the power of the board to make, or whether it violates any constitutional right of the complaining party.

- (4) Ordinance of Board of Supervisors of Carroll County zoning out the sale of beer and wine in a strip of land, bordering adjoining dry counties, upheld. *Herbert v. Board of Supervisors of Carroll County, Mississippi*, 241 Miss. 223, 130 So 2d 250 (Miss. 1961). "Zoning regulations may incidentally confer a benefit upon some and place a burden upon others, but such result is not the true criterion by which the validity of such order is to be tested. That criterion, in a case of this kind, is the public health, morals and safety of the community at large, in which the regulation in question is made operative." *Herbert* at 232.
- (5) Ordinance of City of Hazlehurst prohibiting on-premises beer permit holders to sell to persons under the age of twenty-one (21) years or to permit minors to enter their establishments where beer is consumed, upheld. *Collins v. City of Hazlehurst*, 709 So. 2d 408 (Miss., 1997). In this case, the Court gave special consideration to minors and upheld the city ordinance prohibiting minors from entering establishments where beer is consumed, even though the ordinance was potentially in conflict with a state law. Under

Miss. Code Ann. § 67-3-53(e)(fn1), appellant argued that minors were permitted to enter her Club if they were "accompanied by parents or guardians, or under proper supervision." The City enacted an ordinance that made it a misdemeanor to allow anyone under twenty-one years of age in an establishment that had an on-premises retail beer permit, regardless of accompaniment by parents, guardians, or other proper supervision. The Court found that the importance of protection of the welfare of minors warranted upholding the city ordinance. *Collins* at 412.

- (6) City of Vicksburg authorized to enact ordinance banning sale and/or consumption of beer and light wine on adult entertainment premises. *Steverson v. City of Vicksburg, Mississippi*, 900 F. Supp. 1 (S.D. Miss., 1994);
- (7) Board of Supervisors of Hinds County, Mississippi allowed to create a zone of a residential section adjoining the City of Jackson on the north, and prohibited the sale of beer within the said zoned territory. *Alexander v. Graves*, 178 Miss. 583, 173 So. 2d 417 (Miss., 1937).

In all of the aforementioned cases, there were existing laws which could have been utilized to curb the activity sought to be addressed by the ordinances in question. In each instance, however, the Court found that consideration of public health, morals and safety of the community, as well as the importance of granting local bodies the ability to regulate the impact of alcohol in their communities, allowed the ordinances to be upheld.

In the instant case, given the duration and seriousness of the complaints regarding activities on the river directly attributable to intoxication, the Board reasonably concluded that the only way to resolve the situation and provide for the public health, morals and safety of the community at large was to enact the Ordinance. The Ordinance, as firmly

established at the public hearing and in the findings of the Board contained within the text of the Ordinance, was passed to address public safety, health and good order. In the face of these findings, the Court should not substitute its judgment for that of the legislative body in the legitimate pursuit of county government in protecting the public. *Pathfinder Coach v. Cottrell*, 216 Miss. 358, 62 So. 2d 383 (Miss. 1953).

II. THE ORDINANCE IS AUTHORIZED BY THE COUNTY HOME RULE STATUTE.

The Mississippi Legislature has conferred broad powers upon the Board of Supervisors of Pike County, Mississippi by the provisions of § 19-3-40, Mississippi Code Annotated, popularly known as the County Home Rule Statute. § 19-3-40, as amended, states in pertinent part:

(1)The board of supervisors of any county shall have the power to adopt any orders, resolutions or ordinances with respect to county affairs, property and finances for which no specific provision has been made by general law and which are not inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution, the Mississippi Code of 1972, or any other statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and any such board shall likewise have the power to alter, modify or repeal such orders, resolutions or ordinances.

The very essence of County Home Rule is the promotion of local interests based on the premise that municipal and county citizens are capable of self-government, so long as said self-government is not in conflict with the Mississippi Constitution, Mississippi Code or any other statute or law of the State.

In the instant case, Appellants do not claim that any rights conferred by the Mississippi Constitution have been infringed. The Board of Supervisors of Pike County, Mississippi held a properly noticed public hearing on the proposed ordinance in question, and considered input from persons who support and oppose the ordinance. The Board of Supervisors received a great deal of evidence regarding conditions on the river and

possible solutions to problems therein, including information from various law enforcement agencies, landowners of property along the affected areas of the Bogue Chitto River and Topisaw Creek, and local business owners who would be directly and indirectly affected by the Ordinance. Further, Appellants have not been deprived of the right to conduct their businesses, which primarily involve renting inner tubes and canoes. The Ordinance simply addresses the public safety issues which exist on the river.

While assessing the reasonableness of zoning ordinances regulating intoxicating liquor, Courts need recognize that judicial deference is the watch word, and such ordinances are not reviewable, absent a showing of arbitrariness or irrationality. *Trustees of Mortg. Trusts of America v. Holland, 554 F 2d 237, 238 (5th Cir. 1977)*. Accordingly, only a minimal showing of rationality is necessary to enable a liquor zoning ordinance to withstand constitutional attack. In the instant case, it is clearly rational to determine that prohibiting the consumption of alcohol on the river is an effective way to combat illegal activity on the river directly attributable to alcohol consumption.

The zoning function is traditionally a governmental task requiring the balancing of numerous competing considerations, and Court should properly refrain from reviewing the merits of such decisions, absent a showing of arbitrariness or irrationality. Given the broad powers of states under the Twenty-First Amendment, judicial deference to the Legislative exercise of zoning powers by a City Council or other Legislative zoning body is especially appropriate in the area of liquor regulation. *Larkin v. Grendel's Den, Inc., 459 U.S. 116, 103 S Ct. 504, 74 L Ed. 2d 297 (1982).*

III. THE ORDINANCE IS A VALID EXERCISE OF POLICE POWER.

The existence of police power is essential to every well-ordered government and is

implicit in the concept of orderly government of any political entity. It is "the most essential of powers, at times the most insistent, and always one of the least limitable of the powers of government." Eubank v. Richmond, 226 U.S. 137, 142 (1912). The police power confers upon local governmental the right to "promote the public health, safety, morals and general welfare, peace and order, and public comfort and convenience." Stone v. Mississippi, 101 U.S. 814, 25 L.Ed. 1079 (1879). See also Harper v. Lindsey, 616 F 2d 849 (5th Cir. 1980). The Ordinance passed by the Board of Supervisors at issue herein is a legitimate mode of ensuring the health and safety of the community, with a substantial relationship between the police power invoked and the problem sought to be addressed. City of Lake Charles v. Henning, 414 So.2d 331 (La.1982). Based on the findings contained in the language of the ordinance and upon comments received at a public hearing, the Board of Supervisors concluded that the consumption of alcoholic beverages on the portion of the rivers affected by the Ordinance endangered the public through motor vehicle accidents, public disturbances, malicious mischief, trespassing, and endangerment of minors. The Circuit Court below validated those findings.

The Board of Supervisors of Pike County, Mississippi correctly used zoning and policing powers conferred upon them by the Mississippi Constitution, in concert with authority provided by Mississippi statute, specifically by § 19-3-40, Mississippi Code Annotated, the County Home Rule Statute in conjunction with § 67-3-65, the Beer Statute, in enacting the Ordinance at issue herein.

IV. THE ORDINANCE PASSED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS IS NOT ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

As a general rule, ordinances are presumed valid and reasonable, and should not

be overturned unless the ordinances are shown to be arbitrary and capricious. The burden of proof to establish that they are arbitrary and capricious rests on the party seeking to overturn them. *Trustees of Mortg. Trusts of America v. Holland, 554 F 2d 237, 238 (5th Cir. 1977).* It was clearly rational for the Board to conclude that banning alcoholic beverages on portions of the Bogue Chitto River and the Topisaw Creek would have a significant impact on the amount of illegal activity on the river which was a direct result of intoxication. The Board of Supervisors was told by law enforcement officers on numerous occasions over many years that existing laws were inadequate to combat the pervasive illegal activity in the areas affected by the ban, and was advised repeatedly that the illegal activity directly attributable to intoxication posed a threat to public safety. R. at 34.

During the hearing in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, Pike County Sheriff Mark Shepherd offered the following testimony upon redirect examination by Mr. Dowdy:

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